69107-4

69107-4

5.3

8

No. 69107-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

In re the Marriage of

WENDY A. MCDERMOTT Appellant

and

JUSTIN J. MCDERMOTT Respondent

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PATRICIA NOVOTNY Attorney for Appellant 3418 NE 65th Street, Suite A Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 525-0711

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA) and conflicting orders from the same Washington trial court. By order of one judge, Washington exercised temporary emergency jurisdiction based on the father's domestic violence. Washington also had significant connections jurisdiction.

Notwithstanding the temporary emergency jurisdiction, a commissioner and another superior court judge entered, sequentially, an erroneous order declining jurisdiction and an erroneous order declaring Kansas to be the child's home state. As to the commissioner's order, Washington could only decline jurisdiction after consultation with the court in Kansas and after undertaking the correct analysis as required by statute; the commissioner did neither. (The father belatedly gave notice of the Kansas proceeding, but did not file proof of it until after the commissioner ruled.)

A judge revised the commissioner, declaring Kansas to be the child's home state. This was error, since the child had not lived anywhere for six consecutive months since its birth in Costa Rica. This case should be remanded for compliance with the UCCJEA.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred when it did not confer with the

Kansas court once it learned of those proceedings.

2. The trial court erred when it entered the following

findings of fact and conclusions of law:

[FOF] 7: ... The [domestic violence protection] order does not prohibit contact with Holden. It does restrain Mr. McDermott from coming within 500 feet of or entering Holden's day care or school. There was no finding that Mr. McDermott represented a threat to H[.].

[COL] 1. Pursuant to RCW 26.27.021(7), Kansas is the home state of H[.J.M.] in that he resided in Kansas for at least six consecutive months in that his absence from Kansas from his date of birth on June 15, 2011 was a temporary absence as to both H[J.M.] and his parents. The parents did not intend to relocate to Costa Rica but to maintain and return to their residence in Kansas.

1

[COL] 2. Pursuant to RCW 26.27.201, Washington does not have jurisdiction unless Kansas declines to exercise its jurisdiction on the ground that Washington is the more appropriate forum.

CP 10.

3. The trial court erred when it entered the following

orders:

1. The Commissioner's order is revised in so far as it found that there was no home state. The court finds that Kansas was the child's home state on the date of commencement of this proceeding.

2. The court denies the motion to revise in so far as it declined to exercise jurisdiction in favor of Kansas.

3. The court denies the motion to revise with regard to all other provisions ordered by the commissioner.

CP 10-11.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Did the trial court violate the statute when it did not

confer with the Kansas court?

2. Did this nine-month old child have a home state when

(a) he was born in Costa Rica and lived there for six weeks; (b) he

then lived in Kansas for five months; and (c) he then moved to

Washington, where he had lived for two months at the time this

proceeding commenced?

3. When a superior court judge enters findings of fact and conclusions of law revising the order of a commissioner, is the latter order superseded?

4. In any case, was the commissioner's decision on jurisdiction also erroneous?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

A. BACKGROUND

These parties married in 2011 and separated a year later. CP 83. The marriage took place in Oklahoma. CP 181. A previous marriage, performed in Costa Rica in 2010, was invalid. CP 41, 57-58. The parties spent time together in Washington, where Wendy was born and raised, and in Kansas, where Justin works a farm his parents own. CP 41. They also spent time together, and Wendy spent time by herself, in Costa Rica, where members of Wendy's immediate family live. CP 41, 165, 180-181, 220, 222-223. Wendy works as a boat captain, traveling around the world, and had lived in Costa Rica for years. CP 41.² During the year of their marriage, Wendy split her time between Costa Rica and Kansas. CP 179, 223. Their child was born in Costa Rica. CP 58. Wendy has been the child's primary caregiver since birth. CP 169, 228-229.

After H.J.M. was born, the parties spent five months in Kansas. CP 10. Wendy then moved to Washington, where more of her family lives and where she found employment. CP 223.

¹ A chronology of events is included in the appendix as a table.

² The trial court found "[t]here is no evidence that the mother established Costa Rica as her permanent residence." CP 9. This finding is not challenged because it is not relevant to the legal analysis.

According to Wendy, the parties intended to relocate together to Washington. CP 223. As a boat captain, there was no work for her in Kansas and Justin's income was quite low (i.e., \$24,000). CP 42,'224; Supp. CP _ (sub 53). Justin admitted he "agreed to the move and planned to split his time between Kansas and Washington." CP 58; see, also, CP 200 ("agreed to try and work out a two-State residential plan"). Later, he claimed the plan was for the family to move, but for him to split his time "with Holden between Washington and Kansas." CP 182. Wendy disputes there was ever a plan for the child to spend time away from her (i.e., in Kansas); rather, the plan was for Justin to return periodically to Kansas work his parents' farm. CP 42, 166.

Several months after Wendy and H.J.M. moved here, Justin came to Washington to look for housing. CP 42, 182. He stayed with Wendy at the home of her relatives in Arlington. CP 213. The first morning, these relatives overheard Justin "yelling angrily and very loudly" at Wendy for at least 15 minutes, frightening both witnesses. CP 182, 214, 218-219. Wendy and Justin left together to look for houses in Anacortes. CP 213, 219, 223-224. While doing so, they began to argue. Wendy said they argued about whether to live in Kansas or Washington. CP 224. Justin said they

argued "because [he] didn't understand" why she had not just flown out from Kansas for the job interview, instead of moving to Washington in January and, thus, separating the family. CP 182.³ Justin grew so angry, Wendy became frightened and called the police. CP 225. The police investigated, determined there had been no physical assault, and escorted Justin away from the scene, so he could leave town for Kansas. CP 183-184, 224-225.

According to Wendy, Justin is physically much larger than she and he has a history of abusive, intimidating, and violent conduct. CP 41-42, 166, 224-228. Justin drinks too much and abuses drugs, with effects on his recollection, his driving, his mood and temper. See, e.g., CP 166-169, 224-228. In the past year, he has totaled two different vehicles and destroyed other property. CP 175, 189-190, 216. Others have witnessed Justin in various states of inebriation, belligerence, and agitation. CP 44-45, 216-217, 220-221. Justin denies being an alcoholic, which he defines as someone who "must drink daily or close to it." CP 202; see, also, CP 189. He denies his conduct is abusive. CP 184-187.

³ Several paragraphs before this assertion, Justin acknowledges an agreement for Wendy to come out to Washington for the application process. CP 181-182.

Justin disavows being abusive or threatening and characterizes the exchanges at issue as "arguments." CP 181. He claims Wendy has hit him during arguments and threatened to hurt herself. CP 187-189.

B. WASHINGTON COURT PROCEEDINGS

After the incident in March, Wendy petitioned for dissolution, filing in Snohomish County on March 29, 2012. CP 79-88; CP 9.⁴ In her petition, she alleged the child had "no home state elsewhere" and the court "has temporary emergency jurisdiction … because the child is present in this state and it is necessary in an emergency to protect the child because the child, or parent of the child is subjected to or threatened with abuse." CP 85; see, also, CP 222 (where the child has lived). She cited to RCW 26.27.231 and further alleged "[t]here is no previous custody determination that is entitled to be enforced" and no child custody proceeding had been commenced in a court of a state having jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through 26.27.221. CP 85-86. In her petition, and by separate petition, she also requested the court enter a domestic violence protection order (DVPO). CP 85, 88, 268-277.

⁴ Judge Krese found the petition was filed on March 18, 2012. CP 10 (Finding of Fact #6). Justin said she filed on March 20. CP 58. However, the date on the pleading and the court's "filed" stamp is March 29, 2012. CP 79-80, 88.

Justin responded to Wendy's petition and agreed the child had no home state, but denied the court had a basis for emergency jurisdiction. CP 73-74. He denied he intended to reside in Washington full-time or that the "family intended to move to Washington as a whole." CP 74. He also agreed it would be "easier" to finalize the dissolution in Washington. CP 190. He asked the court to enter a decree and his proposed parenting plan. CP 75-76, 190-191.

On March 29, 2012, a commissioner entered ex parte a temporary order maintaining the status quo. CP 77-78. The order became effective as to Justin upon service, which occurred on April 17, 2012. CP 78, 278.

Wendy sought more particularized temporary orders and an order of protection by motion and petition filed on May 4, 2012. CP 238-267, 268-277. Justin responded, as described above. CP 180-192. Due to a crowded calendar on May 30, 2012, Commissioner Lester H. Stewart was unable to hear the matter in its entirety.⁵ CP 93. However, the commissioner denied the protection order and entered mutual restraining orders. CP 63-72,

⁵ Because numerous judicial officers have entered orders in this matter, they are identified by name.

93-94. The court also entered temporary orders, addressing a variety of other matters, but reserved the residential schedule and the jurisdiction ("UCCJEA") issue for a later hearing. CP 63-72, 93-94. The court also ordered appointment of a guardian ad litem. CP 70.

On June 5, 2012, Justin filed a motion to dismiss the dissolution action on the grounds that the court either did not have jurisdiction over the party's child or it should decline jurisdiction. CP 57. He mentioned for the first time that he had filed for divorce in Kansas, but provided no proof. CP 58. He made no argument regarding why the court should not exercise jurisdiction over the marriage and property, but focused on jurisdiction to decide matters related to the child. CP 57-62. He conceded there was no home state. CP 60.

On June 6, 2012, Wendy moved for revision of the commissioner's ruling denying her a protection order. CP 148-153. In a memorandum, she reviewed the definition of domestic violence and the legal standards for protection orders. CP 142-147. On June 14, 2012, Judge Janice Ellis granted the motion for revision and granted Wendy a domestic violence protection order. CP 35-39, 117-118. Judge Ellis found Justin "committed domestic

violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010 and represents a credible threat to [Wendy's] physical safety..." CP 35. The court also found the child had no home state and the court had "temporary emergency jurisdiction." CP 37. The court ordered visitation to continue pursuant to the temporary orders. CP 38. Justin did not appeal the order of protection.

A week after Judge Ellis entered the order of protection and found temporary emergency jurisdiction, Commissioner Stewart heard Justin's motion to dismiss. CP 32-34. The commissioner found the child has no home state, but also found there "is no emergency jurisdiction." CP 31-32. The commissioner decided Washington should decline jurisdiction in favor of Kansas because the child had spent more time (5.5 months) in Kansas, as compared to Washington (2.5 months, by the date the petition for dissolution was filed), meaning "there are likely to be more witnesses to the child's upbringing in KS than in WA." CP 33. (The commissioner did not include in the calculation the 1.5 months the child spent with Wendy in Costa Rica.) The commissioner viewed the DVPO as relating "to the Mother" and as "deferring residential contact with the child to the family law portion of the divorce." CP

34. The court also found no "basis to restrict or supervise the Father's contact with the child." CP 34.

Wendy moved to revise Commissioner Stewart's orders. CP 24-31. On July 6, 2012, Justin filed copies of the Kansas pleadings. CP 95-111. On July 9, 2012, Judge Linda Krese revised the commissioner's orders and found Kansas to be the home state because the child's "absence from Kansas from his date of birth on June 15, 2011 was a temporary absence as to both H[.J.M.] and his parents." CP 10.

It appears from the clerk's minutes that neither Commissioner Stewart nor Judge Krese conferred with the court in Kansas. CP 112, 115-116, 164.

Wendy filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 1-8.

C. KANSAS PROCEEDINGS

On March 29, 2012, Justin petitioned for dissolution in Kansas. CP 96. (This is the same day Wendy filed in Washington.) He requested temporary orders, including temporary joint custody of H.J.M., such that the infant would spend 30 days in Kansas and 30 days in Washington. CP 99. In his petition, Justin declared Wendy to be a resident of Kansas and declared the child had lived only in Kansas and Washington. CP 96-97. He made no mention of Costa Rica, nor did he assert any basis for the exercise of the court's jurisdiction over the child. CP 96-98.

On April 2, 2012, in the absence of Wendy, in person or by counsel, the Kansas court entered temporary orders, including a temporary order of joint custody granting the alternating 30-day schedule. CP 99-107. The petition and orders were served on Wendy three months later, on June 28, 2012. CP 114.

Meanwhile, on May 22, 2012, Justin filed his response to Wendy's petition in Washington. CP 73-76. He did not mention the Kansas proceeding in his response or declaration. Id.; see, also, CP 180-192. Instead, he agreed to Washington's jurisdiction over all matters. CP 190. He asked for affirmative relief, including by request that the court enter his parenting plan. CP 75-76, 190-191. He filed his motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction on June 5, 2012, informing the court for the first time that he had filed a petition for dissolution. CP 58. He did not tell the court about the temporary orders or otherwise provide proof of the Kansas proceeding.

On June 12, 2012, Wendy told the court she had not been served with notice of any legal action in Kansas, and told the court Justin claimed to have filed an action, but provided no proof. CP

41, 46. More than three weeks later, on June 28, 2012, Wendy was served with the Kansas petition and orders. CP 114. On July 6, 2012, Justin filed copies of the Kansas pleadings. CP 95-111. Three days later, Judge Krese revised Commissioner Stewart's order, from which Wendy appealed. CP 1-8, 9-11.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether Washington courts have subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *In re Parentage of Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. 109, 115, 275 P.3d 1175 (2012). The question of subject matter jurisdiction is governed by statute, specifically, by the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), which seeks, through national uniformity of laws and conformity with federal law, to eliminate the problems of forum-shopping and conflicting custodial orders that plagued interstate child custody determinations in the past. Both Washington and Kansas have adopted the UCCJEA. Title 36 RCW Chapter 27; Title 23 KSA Chapter 23.

The UCCJEA, formerly the UCCJA, was revised substantially in 1997 to give priority in jurisdiction to the child's "home state," otherwise address problems with the prior act, and

make the uniform act consistent with federal law, i.e., the Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act (PKPA).⁶ *See* UCCJEA (1997), *Prefatory Note*.⁷ The revision was so substantial as to render cases decided under the former act of dubious precedential value. *Staats v. McKinnon*, 206 S.W.3d 532, 547 (Tenn.Ct.App. 2006) ("It would be a mistake to rely heavily on prior case law interpreting the UCCJA and the PKPA in construing the provisions of the UCCJEA.").

B. THE ORDER ON APPEAL IS JUDGE KRESE'S ORDER.

When a superior court judge revises a commissioner's order, the judge's order supersedes the commissioner's. *Grieco v. Wilson*, 144 Wn. App. 865, 877, 184 P.3d 668 (2008) ("when the court makes independent findings and conclusions, the court's revision order then supersedes the commissioner's decision"); *aff'd in part and rev'd in part, on other grounds, In re Custody of E.A.T.W.*, 144 Wn. App. 865, 184 P.3d 668 (2010); *accord, In re Marriage of Dodd,* 120 Wn. App. 638, 644, 86 P.3d 801 (2004) (no need to assign findings to commissioner's order because judge's supersedes it); *State ex rel. J.V.G. v. Van Guilder,* 137 Wn. App.

⁶ Federal law governs what custody orders are entitled to full faith and credit.

⁷http://www.uniformlaws.org/shared/docs/child_custody_jurisdiction/uccjea_final_ 97.pdf.

417, 423, 154 P.3d 243 (2007) ("Generally, we review the superior court's ruling, not the commissioner's"). Accordingly, this case must go back to the superior court for correction of the error of law made by Judge Krese and discussed below.

However, for two reasons, additional briefing is provided. First, Judge Krese included in her revision order the following statement: "The court denies the motion to revise in so far as it declined to exercise jurisdiction in favor of Kansas." CP 11.⁸ This order does not make sense in light of Judge Krese's home state determination. Because Judge Krese determined Kansas was the home state, and because the home state has priority jurisdiction, Washington would have no power to exercise or decline jurisdiction. *In re Parentage, Parenting, & Support of A.R.K.-K.*, 142 Wn. App. 297, 307, 174 P.3d 160 (2007) ("The UCCJEA does not permit Washington unilaterally to declare itself a more convenient forum and wrest jurisdiction from the home state."). The home state determination settles the matter (unless the home state

⁸ The court also ordered: "The court denies the motion to revise with regard to all other provisions ordered by the commissioner." CP 11. If this order somehow revives the commissioner's order in any respect (e.g., as to the commissioner's finding/concluding there was no "basis to restrict or supervise the Father's contact with the child" (CP 34)), then Wendy asks permission to file a supplemental brief challenging the commissioner's order. However, this challenge is also implicit in the analysis of Commissioner Stewart's order, which follows in § IV.E.

declines). For this reason, and because the judge revised the commissioner's order, it appears the only appealable order is that of Judge Krese.

However, because of the language in Judge Krese's order about not revising the commissioner's order on declining jurisdiction, and because the question of whether to decline jurisdiction should arise again on remand, appellant argues below that Commissioner Stewart properly determined there was no home state, but improperly declined jurisdiction. CP 34. However, first, appellant addresses an error clearly made by both judicial officers, then the home state question, then the commissioner's order declining jurisdiction.

C. THE UCCJEA REQUIRES A JUDICIAL CONFERENCE.

Judge Krese, if not Commissioner Stewart, failed a mandatory requirement of the statute, to confer with the Kansas court. Because of the DVPO, the Washington court was mandated to first confer with the Kansas court. RCW 26.27.231(4).⁹

⁹ The temporary emergency jurisdiction provision provides:

⁽⁴⁾ A court of this state that has been asked to make a child custody determination under this section, upon being informed that a child custody proceeding has been commenced in, or a child custody determination has been made by, a court of a state having jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through 26.27.221, <u>shall immediately</u> <u>communicate with the other court.</u>

Likewise, the simultaneous proceedings provision applies under "the rare circumstance 'when there is no home State, no State with exclusive, continuing jurisdiction and more than one significant connection State." *Koeplin v. Crandall,* 230 P.3d 797, 800 (Mont. 2010). This provision required the Washington court to "stay its proceeding and communicate with the court of the other state." RCW 26.27.251(2). The court's failure to do so violates the statute.

Here, this failure is particularly problematic since, although a proceeding had been commenced in Kansas, no order had been entered in compliance with the UCCJEA and the proceedings were essentially dormant, since Justin had acquiesced to litigating in Washington and had not even served Wendy with the Kansas pleadings. A judicial conference would have informed the Washington judicial officers that there was no active proceeding in Kansas. There was, in effect, nowhere to send this case.

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