NO. 69107-4-I

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

In re the Marriage of:

WENDY A. McDERMOTT,

Appellant,

and

JUSTIN J. McDERMOTT,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033

Attorneys for Respondent

COURT OF APPEALS DIV STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

Citing this Court's decision in *Greico v. Wilson*, Wendy asserts that she does not have to appeal from Commissioner Stewart's order, arguing that Judge Krese's order superseded it. BA 14 (citing 144 Wn. App. 865, 877, 184 P.3d 668 (2008), *aff'd in part, rev'd in part sub nom.*, *In re Custody of E.A.T.W.*, 168 Wn.2d 335, 227 P.3d 1284 (2010)). *Greico* contradicts Wendy's argument.

When a superior court denies the motion to revise without entering findings of its own, the trial court "adopts the commissioner's findings, conclusions, and rulings as its own." *Greico*, 144 Wn. App. at 877 (citing *State ex rel. J.V.G. v. Van*

Guilder, 137 Wn. App. at 417, 423, 154 P.3d 243 (2007)). But when the revision court makes independent findings and conclusions, the order on revision supersedes the commissioner's order. 144 Wn. App. at 877. Again, Judge Krese did not make findings pertaining to inconvenient forum under RCW 26.27.261, but specifically denied Wendy's motion as to that issue. CP 10-11. Thus, Judge Krese adopted as her own Commissioner Stewart's findings that Kansas is the more appropriate forum. Greico, 144 Wn. App. at 877.

This Court should reject Wendy's unsupported request to submit supplemental briefing challenging Commissioner Stewart's order. BA 15 n.8. Wendy admits that this "challenge is also implicit" in subsequent arguments. *Id.* If she wanted to make the argument more explicit, she should have done so in her opening brief.

D. No judicial conference was required for the Washington court to determine that Kansas is H's home state, or to rule that Kansas is the more convenient forum. (BA 16-17, 23-27).

Wendy argues that once the superior court took temporary emergency jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.231, the court could take no further action without first conferring with Kansas. BA 16-17, 23-

27. She claims that the court did not confer with Kansas and that Judge Krese's order ruling that Kansas is H's home state (CP 9-10) and Commissioner Stewart's order declining jurisdiction in favor of Kansas (CP 32-34) are thus void. BA 23-27. This argument misunderstands the temporary emergency jurisdiction statute, and ignores black letter law that a superior court always has jurisdiction to determine whether it has subject matter jurisdiction and whether it should exercise its jurisdiction. *In re Marriage of Kastanas*, 78 Wn. App. at 193, 201, 896 P.2d 726 (1995). This Court should affirm.

1. Temporary emergency jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.231.

A Washington court may take "temporary emergency jurisdiction" if a child is located in the state and (1) the child is abandoned; or (2) taking emergency jurisdiction is necessary to protect the child because the child or his sibling or parent is abused or threatened with abuse. RCW 26.27.231(1). This statute is an exception to the general rule that Washington has jurisdiction under the UCCJEA "only if" it is the child's home state. RCW 26.27.201(1) (expressly excepting RCW 26.27.231).

RCW 26.27.231(2) governs the effect of child custody determinations made under a Washington court's temporary emergency jurisdiction where (1) no foreign court has made a child custody determination entitled to enforcement under the UCCJEA; and (2) no action has been commenced in a state with UCCJEA jurisdiction:

[1] If there is no previous child custody determination that is entitled to be enforced under this chapter and a child custody proceeding has not been commenced in a court of a state having jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through 26.27.221, a child custody determination made under this section remains in effect until an order is obtained from a court of a state having jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through 26.27.221. [2] If a child custody proceeding has not been or is not commenced in a court of a state having jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through 26.27.221, a child custody determination made under this section becomes a final determination, if it so provides and this state becomes the home state of the child.

A "child custody proceeding" is a proceeding involving the custody a child, a parenting plan, or visitation with a child:

"Child custody proceeding" means a proceeding in which legal custody, physical custody, a parenting plan, or visitation with respect to a child is an issue. The term includes a proceeding for dissolution, divorce, separation, neglect, abuse, dependency, guardianship, paternity, termination of parental rights, and protection from domestic violence, in which the issue may appear. The term does not include a proceeding involving juvenile delinquency, emancipation proceedings under chapter 13.64 RCW, proceedings under chapter 13.32A RCW, or enforcement under Article 3.

RCW 26.27.021(4). A "child custody determination" is an order, including temporary orders, providing for custody and visitation:

"Child custody determination" means a judgment, decree, parenting plan, or other order of a court providing for the legal custody, physical custody, or visitation with respect to a child. The term includes a permanent, temporary, initial, and modification order. The term does not include an order relating to child support or other monetary obligation of an individual.

RCW 26.27.021(3).

RCW 26.27.231(2) is inapplicable where Kansas made a child custody determination before the Washington Court took temporary emergency jurisdiction on June 14, 2012, having entered a temporary parenting pan on April 2, 2011. RCW 26.27.231(2). This subsection is inapplicable for the additional reason that Kansas has UCCJEA jurisdiction as H's home state. RCW 26.27.231(2). And this subsection is also inapplicable because, as discuss in more detail below, the orders Wendy challenged are not child custody determinations. *Id*.

Under subsection (3), where (as here) an action has been commenced in a foreign court with UCCJEA jurisdiction, or (also as here) a foreign court with UCCJEA jurisdiction has made a child custody determination, then the Washington court order taking temporary emergency jurisdiction "must specify" the period of time

the Washington court considers adequate to allow the moving party to obtain relief from the foreign court with UCCJEA jurisdiction:

If there is a previous child custody determination that is entitled to be enforced under this chapter, or a child custody proceeding has been commenced in a court of a state having jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through 26.27.221, any order issued by a court of this state under this section must specify in the order a period that the court considers adequate to allow the person seeking an order to obtain an order from the state having jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through 26.26.221. The order issued in this state remains in effect until an order is obtained from the other state within the period specified or the period expires.

RCW 26.27.231(3). As the last sentence plainly indicates, an order assuming temporary emergency jurisdiction is effective only until the foreign court enters the order at issue, or the period identified in the temporary-emergency-jurisdiction order expires. *Id.*

RCW 26.27.231(4) also has two parts – the first applies when a Washington court is exercising temporary emergency jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.231, and the second applies when a Washington court exercises jurisdiction under RCW 26.27.201 through RCW 26.27.221, but a foreign court has taken temporary emergency jurisdiction under a statute like RCW 26.27.231:

[1] A court of this state that has been asked to make a child custody determination under this section, upon being informed that a child custody proceeding has been commenced in, or a child custody determination has been made by, a court of a state having jurisdiction under RCW

26.27.201 through 26.27.221, shall immediately communicate with the other court. [2] A court of this state that is exercising jurisdiction pursuant to 26.27.201 through 26.27.221, upon being informed that a child custody proceeding has been commenced in, or a child custody determination has been made by, a court of another state under a statute similar to this section shall immediately communicate with the court of that state to resolve the emergency, protect the safety of the parties and the child, and determine a period for the duration of the temporary order.

Provision [1] requires a Washington Court that has assumed temporary jurisdiction to communicate with a foreign court when:

(a) the Washington court has been asked to make a child custody determination; and (b) the Washington court has been informed (i) that a child custody proceeding has been commenced in a foreign court with UCCJEA jurisdiction, or (ii) that a foreign court with UCCJEA jurisdiction has made a child custody determination. Provision [2] requires any Washington court exercising non-emergency jurisdiction through some other UCCJEA provision, such as the home state provision (RCW 26.27.201(1)), to communicate with any foreign court that has taken UCCJEA temporary emergency jurisdiction to resolve the emergency. Provision [2] is inapplicable as Kansas did not take temporary emergency jurisdiction.

2. The trial court did not properly exercise temporary emergency jurisdiction.

There are multiple components to a Washington court's exercise of temporary emergency jurisdiction. First, there must be an emergency. RCW 26.27.231; *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 119-124. Second, the child or his sibling, or parent must face the threat of abuse. *Id*.¹¹ And third, the jurisdiction must be "temporary." *Id*.

The statute does not define "emergency," so this Court will give the term its ordinary and common meaning, and may turn to the dictionary. *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 119-20 (citing *Budget Rent A Car Corp. v. Dep't of Licensing*, 144 Wn.2d 889, 899-900, 31 P.3d 1174 (2001)). In *Ruff*, the appellate court defined "emergency" as used here, as "an unforeseen combination of circumstances or the resulting state that calls for immediate action." *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 120 (quoting Webster's Third New International Dictionary 741 (1993)).

Apart from *Ruff*, "Washington courts have not passed on what an emergency is under the UCCJEA, but has done so under the earlier [UCCJA]." *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 120 (citing *In re*

¹¹ Although Justin contests Wendy's domestic violence allegations, this brief assumes *arguendo* that the DVPO is sufficient evidence of "abuse" under RCW 26.27.231.

Marriage of Greenlaw, 67 Wn. App. 755, 762, 840 P.2d 223 (1992), rev'd on other grounds, 123 Wn.2d 593, 869 P.2d 1024 (1994)). In Greenlaw, the appellate court held "that assumption of emergency jurisdiction under the UCCJA is to be undertaken only in extraordinary circumstances, such as where a child would be placed in imminent danger if jurisdiction were not exercised." Greenlaw, 67 Wn. App. at 762; Ruff, 168 Wn. App. at 120.

Commissioner Stewart correctly concluded that there was no emergency jurisdiction here. CP 33. The parties argued and yelled. CP 181-82, 276. Wendy claims that at times, these arguments caused her to fear for her safety. BA 5-6. This is not "extraordinary" nor did Wendy even claim that H was in "imminent danger." *Greenlaw*, 67 Wn. App. at 762; CP 85, 224. Rather, she agreed that Justin was unlikely to come to Washington other than to appear in court. CP 271.

The order is also flawed because it does not indicate the length of time necessary for Wendy to obtain relief in Kansas and does not include an expiration date. RCW 26.27.231(3); see also *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 122. These requirements are "mandatory." *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 124. In any event, Wendy has plainly had sufficient time to obtain relief in Kansas. RCW 26.27.231(3); *Ruff*,

168 Wn. App. at 122. Wendy is actively participating in the Kansas action, although it does not appear that she has requested a DVPO there. App. A. There is no "emergency" in Washington, if there ever was one.

And Wendy never asked the trial court to confer, repeatedly denying that there was a Kansas action. CP 13, 25, 48. On June 5, Justin plainly informed the Washington Court that he had an open action in Kansas, later stating that it was unclear why Wendy continued to deny the existence of the Kansas action. CP 58, 91. Justin even invited the Washington court to confer with Kansas. *Id.* Wendy continued to question whether Justin had filed suit in Kansas. CP 25. Justin filed the Kansas pleadings in Washington on July 6, 2012. CP 95-111.

3. The superior court did not have to communicate with Kansas to determine its own jurisdiction.

The communication requirement in RCW 26.27.231(4) is triggered only if the Washington court with temporary emergency jurisdiction is asked to make a child custody determination. *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 121-22. But Wendy challenges the court's orders ruling that Kansas is the home state and that Washington should decline jurisdiction to Kansas. These are not child custody

determinations. RCW 26.27.021(3). Thus, RCW 26.27.231(4) simply does not require the Washington court to confer with a foreign court before deciding its own jurisdiction.

Such a requirement would not further the UCCJEA's The UCCJEA is essentially "a pact" limiting the purposes. circumstances under which one court will modify another court's orders. Custody of A.C., 165 Wn.2d at 574 (citing UCCJEA prefatory note, 9 pt. IA U.L.A. at 649-51). It is, in other words, an agreement to give child custody determinations full faith and credit. ld. Its purposes are to reduce conflicting child custody orders from competing jurisdictions, reduce forum shopping, and simplify drawn out and complex legal proceedings. Custody of A.C., 165 Wn.2d at 574 (citing UCCJEA prefatory note, 9 pt. IA U.L.A. at 651; UCCJEA § 101 cmt., 9 pt. IA U.L.A. at 657). Washington did not do anything that conflicts with Kansas' child custody determination - it simply decided that its lacks jurisdiction and that Kansas is the more appropriate forum. These decisions simplify this matter.

But even assuming that the superior court had to communicate with Kansas, and failed to do so, the only consequence is that the Washington court would not have jurisdiction to enter permanent child custody orders. *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 123-34. Again, it has not done so.

Additionally, the superior court did not have to confer with Kansas before ruling that Kansas is the home state because that decision has no bearing on Washington's temporary emergency jurisdiction. RCW 26.27.231 assumes that Washington does not have jurisdiction as the home state – that is why there must be an emergency for the court to take jurisdiction. RCW 26.27.201 confers jurisdiction on Washington if it is the home state, specifically excepting jurisdiction taken on an emergency basis under RCW 26.27.231.

4. Wendy's remaining arguments are unpersuasive.

Wendy's reliance on *Prizzia v. Prizzia* is misplaced. BA 24 (citing 58 Va. App. 137, 707 S.Ed.2d 461, 468 (2011)). Wendy quotes *Prizzia* for the proposition that RCW 26.27.231 (the temporary emergency jurisdiction statute) "does not permit a court simply to declare that it has decided to decline to exercise jurisdiction." BA 24 (quoting *Prizzia*, 707 S.E.2d at 468). But *Prizzia* was not remotely addressing the court's authority after having taken emergency jurisdiction, which was not at issue in that case. *Prizzia*, 707 S.E.2d at 468. Rather, the court held that a

court declining jurisdiction under Virginia Code under the eight factor inconvenient-forum test must consider the statutory factors. 707 S.E.2d at 468.

But even assuming *arguendo* that the court had an obligation to confer with Kansas and failed to do so, the consequence would be that the court did not have jurisdiction to enter final child custody orders, "even assuming that it had the authority to temporarily assume emergency jurisdiction." *Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. at 123-24. Again, the trial court did not enter any final child custody orders. CP 9-11, 32-34.

Wendy claims that Kansas did not enter its temporary orders in compliance with the UCCJEA because she was not given notice. BA 23. Wendy was repeatedly informed of the Kansas action and was properly served. Her continuing failure to acknowledge those proceedings is troubling.

Wendy accuses Justin of deceiving the Kansas court by failing to disclose that H was born in Costa Rica, claiming that this "requires Kansas to decline jurisdiction" BA 23, n.10 (citing CP 96-98; RCW 26.27.231, emphasis Wendy's). Justin disclosed that H had lived in Kansas and Washington during the past five years. CP 97. He did not include Costa Rica because H did not

live there, where his parents were only visitors. CP 9-10, FF 1-4. Nothing in RCW 26.27.231 supports Wendy's assertion that Kansas is required to decline jurisdiction simply because Justin failed to mention H's birthplace. BA 23.

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